Advancing Science for Pet Health

A TRANSFORMATIONAL APPROACH To Managing Fel d 1, The Major Cat Allergen



Revenue Anstitute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Allergies to cats are the most common animal-origin allergies in humans and can impair quality of life for allergy sufferers by interfering with daily activities as well as performance at work and school. They can also limit the interactions between the allergic person and their cat, and allergy to cats is a commonly provided reason for relinquishment to shelters as well as a barrier to cat adoption and ownership.

Based on more than a decade of research, a novel approach uses a feline diet that neutralizes the major cat allergen, Fel d 1, in the cat's mouth as (s)he chews the food: neutralized Fel d 1 is unable to trigger an allergic response. This cat-safe approach provides a means of reducing allergenic Fel d 1 through the simple act of feeding. As part of a comprehensive allergen management plan, this approach can help reduce the major cat allergen while keeping the cat in its loving home.

CONTENTS

2	The role of Fel d 1 in human allergies to cats		
3	Consequences of human allergies to cats		
	Consequences for the human allergy sufferer		
	Consequences for the human-animal bond		
	Consequences for cat health and welfare		
3	Approaches for managing cat allergies		
	Preventive measures		
	Environmental management and intervention		
6	A transformational nutritional approach to managing Fel d 1		
	Anti-Fel d 1 IgY		
	Anti-Fel d 1 IgY effectively neutralizes active Fel d 1 in vitro and ex vivo		
	Anti-Fel d 1 IgY is safe for cats		
	Diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces active Fel d 1 in cats' saliva		
	Diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces active Fel d 1 on cats' hair		
	Preserving the human-animal bond		
	Cat diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces the allergic response in sensitized individuals		
9	Summary		
10	References		

Advancing Science for Pet Health

THE ROLE OF FEL D 1 IN HUMAN ALLERGIES TO CATS

Allergies to cats are the most common mammal-origin allergy in humans,¹³ affect 7-25% of the population, and represent a growing public health concern as these rates increase.³⁻⁵ The prevalence of cat allergy varies among countries,⁵ but it is estimated that approximately 1 in 5 adults worldwide are affected.¹³

To date, eight cat allergens have been identified and registered through the World Health Organization/International Union of Immunological Societies (WHO/IUIS) Allergen Nomenclature Sub-Committee.^{1,6} **Fel d 1 is the major cat allergen,** accounting for up to 96% of human allergic sensitization to cats and 60-100% of the overall antigenicity of cats and cat dander.^{1,4,5,7,9} It was first identified as a major cat allergen in the early 1970s.¹⁰

Allergen	Biochemical name	Prevalance of allergen-specific IgE among human patients (%)	Molecular weight (kDa)
Fel d 1	secretoglobin	>90	18
Fel d 2	serum albumin	14-23	69
Fel d 3	cystatin-A	10	11
Fel d 4	lipocalin	63	22
Fel d 5	immunoglobulin A	20-40	400
Fel d 6	immunoglobulin B	not reported	800-1000
Fel d 7	lipocalin	38	17.5
Fel d 8	latherin	19	24

Table 1: Human sensitization rates to feline-origin allergens. (Excerpted from EAACI Molecular Allergology User's Guide 2.0)⁷

All cats produce Fel d 1 regardless of breed, age, hair (length, color or pattern), sex (male or female; neutered or intact), housing (indoors vs outdoors), or body weight; there are no truly allergen-free or hypoallergenic cats.^{1,5,11-14} Fel d 1 production varies widely among individual cats, and may vary widely throughout the year in the same cat.^{11,15} Bastien et al¹¹ observed an 80-fold difference in salivary Fel d 1 levels between the lowest-producing and highest-producing cats in a 64-cat group, and up to a 76-fold difference between the lowest and highest salivary Fel d 1 levels in individual cats over the course of a year. Studies have shown that male cats produce 3-5 times less Fel d 1 after neutering; these findings, combined with observations that Fel d 1 production could be restored to preneutering levels with the administration of exogenous testosterone, suggest an influential role of testosterone on Fel d 1 production.^{1,2}



All cats, even hairless cats, produce Fel d 1

Fel d 1

Fel d 1's function for the cat has not been definitively determined, but proposed roles include pheromone/chemical signaling, epithelial defense, lipid regulation and immunoregulation.¹⁶⁻¹⁸

Fel d 1 easily becomes and remains airborne in dander and dust particles; up to 60% of Fel d 1 is carried by particles less than 5 microns in diameter.^{1,5} Fel d 1's molecular

structure also allows it to stick to many surfaces such as clothing, carpet and upholstered furniture. As a result, the allergen is ubiquitous



Fel d 1 on hair shaft

and has been documented in private vehicles as well as public transportation and buildings at levels that exceed the threshold value associated with sensitization and may worsen allergic symptoms in sensitized individuals.^{1,2,4,8,19:22}

CONSEQUENCES OF HUMAN ALLERGIES TO CATS

Consequences for the human allergy sufferer

Exposure to Fel d 1 can induce nasal and ocular allergy symptoms and can induce asthma symptoms in some individuals. Aside from the clinical symptoms, allergies to cats can also lead to poor sleep quality, fatigue, reduced alertness, lower work productivity and concentration, and mood changes.²³ These impairments may result not only from the allergic condition itself, but also from undesired effects of medications taken for symptom prevention and relief.

Consequences for the human-animal bond

Cats serve as sources of emotional support, particularly when a strong human-animal bond is present.²⁴ Cats tend to interact more frequently with people who are available, accessible, and attentive.^{25:27} Reduction in any of these factors due to allergen avoidance measures and restricted access to humans could be detrimental for the cat. For example, isolating a cat to one room or an area of the house, excluding a cat from areas commonly inhabited by their bonded humans, and/or reducing interaction time due to cat allergies may deprive the cat of social interactions and lead to a more distant relationship that fails to meet the cat's and/or the owner's needs.^{25,28,29} Shorter interaction time between the cat and owner in an attempt to reduce allergen exposure may be associated with reduced relationship quality, diminished attachment, and a compromised perception of the emotional support received from the cat.²⁹

Consequences for cat health and welfare

Allergy to cats directly impacts cat welfare because allergy is a commonly provided reason for relinquishment of cats to shelters³⁰⁻³⁴ as well as a barrier to cat adoption and ownership.^{30,35}

Inadequate housing and/or handling (e.g., due to attempts to reduce allergen exposure) that fails to meet the cat's needs regarding their micro- and macroenvironment can compromise cats' welfare.^{36,37} Poor welfare may contribute to physical deterioration, chronic physiologic stress, illness, and behavioral problems such as house soiling and spraying, aggression and repetitive or destructive behaviors,³⁶⁻³⁹ which may lead to an increased risk of relinquishment.^{39,40}

APPROACHES FOR MANAGING CAT ALLERGIES

There are varying options available for individuals looking to find a solution for their cat-related allergies. These range from cleaning supplies to help manage allergen levels in the home to medical intervention for the allergy sufferer. Each of these has varying levels of efficacy, associated cost, and validated scientific support. Combining methods provides better results.^{5,9,41,42}

RIVE Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Research has shown that a combination of methods can have the greatest impact on reducing allergens.^{5,9,41,42}

Preventive measures

- Primary prevention: To date, there is no consensus regarding animal exposure and preventing later onset of asthma or other allergic diseases.⁵
- **Pharmaceutical management:** Patients with a known cat allergy may prevent or mitigate the symptoms with medications.
- Immunotherapy: While immunotherapy has been in use for more than 100 years, there is limited evidence regarding its efficacy cat allergies.⁴³
- "Hypoallergenic" cats: So-called "hypoallergenic pets" have been marketed to allergy sufferers, but their clinical relevance has never been demonstrated.^{5,12} While anecdotal evidence may suggest some breeds of cats tend to be less allergenic to some individuals, there are currently no scientifically proven breeds of hypoallergenic dogs or cats.¹² Genetic modification is another method that has been suggested for the creation of truly hypoallergenic cats; two genome-edited cats produced using the CRISPR-Cas9 system to modify the genetic code for Fel d 1 showed significantly reduced Fel d 1 levels compared to a normal cat.⁴⁴
 Further research is indicated to evaluate the viability and animal welfare impacts of this approach.

Environmental management and intervention

Individuals who are polysensitized (allergic to two or more allergens) will often show more severe symptoms than mono-sensitized individuals when exposed to environmental allergens, indicating that allergens have an additive effect.^{45,46} This reinforces the concept of total allergen load, which represents the sum of the individual allergens in the environment at that time. If the total allergen load exceeds an individual's allergic threshold, that individual develops allergic symptoms. If the allergen load can be reduced by avoiding or reducing exposure to one or more of the contributing allergens, the cumulative level of allergen exposure may fall below an individual's threshold and improve or prevent allergy symptoms.^{45,46} This may be achieved in a number of ways, including complete avoidance of the allergen, altering the immune response to the allergen, and reducing the levels of the offending allergen(s). Combination strategies to reduce allergen exposure are generally more successful.^{5.9}

The concept of the allergic threshold. In this case, the sensitized individual is exposed to two allergens (1 and 2) at relatively consistent levels in their home but not at cumulative levels that reach or exceed the individual's allergic threshold. However, sensitization to Allergen 3 sufficiently increases the allergen load that it exceeds the threshold and the individual becomes symptomatic (left side). The right side represents the allergic load if Allergen 3 is reduced by approximately 50%. The allergens do not need to be eliminated to produce clinical relief; relief is experienced when the allergic load is reduced and remains below the allergic threshold.



Allergen avoidance

The most common allergist recommendation for those suffering from allergies to cats is to remove the cat from the home, thereby avoiding the allergen.^{5,9,14} This measure is not supported by evidence^{5,9,14,47} and many cat owners refuse or fail to comply.^{5,48-51} Pets are often considered part of the family⁵² and removing a pet from the home is associated with emotional consequences that many, if not most, pet owners are unwilling to accept. A study of 341 adults diagnosed as allergic to dogs or cats revealed that only 21% complied with the recommendation and removed their pet from the home.⁴⁹ In addition, in a subset of 122 subjects whose pet had died since the patient's pet allergy diagnosis, 70% had acquired a new pet.⁴⁹ A recent survey of 1,002 cat-allergic cat owners showed that 84% would

keep their cat despite their physician's recommendation, including 20% who replied they would keep their cat but find a new physician.⁵³

Many pet owners accept the physical discomfort associated with their allergic symptoms in order to keep their pets.^{49,61}



Reaction to physician's advice to remove cat from home

Fel d 1 is a "sticky" allergen and it may take months for symptoms to improve following removal of the cat from the household, particularly if the household is carpeted.⁴² Wood et al⁴² observed that up to 20 weeks were required following removal of the cat for Fel d 1 levels to reduce to those found in homes without cats. In addition, the ubiquitous nature of Fel d1 makes it nearly impossible to avoid the allergen altogether, even if there is no cat in the home.

When patients refuse to comply with the recommendation to remove the cat(s) from the home, commonly proposed compromises include excluding the cat(s) from the bedroom and other frequently used areas of the home, and restricting the cat(s) to specific rooms or areas of the house.⁵ Although these measures can reduce allergen exposure, they may reduce the frequency, duration, and quality of owner-cat interactions and can compromise cat health and welfare as previously described.

Environmental controls

Environmental control measures are also recommended in order to reduce environmental allergen levels, and measures implemented in cat-sensitized households may include keeping the cat outdoors;⁹ using HEPA filters in vacuums and HVAC systems;^{5,9,14} removing carpets;^{9,41,42} removing or covering upholstered furniture;^{5,42} and regular, intensive cleaning.^{41,42}

Although these measures may reduce the allergen load,⁴¹ they are effort-intensive, costly, and may be difficult to sustain long-term.⁴⁷ In addition, the effects may be transient.^{9,14}

Bathing the cat

Allergists' recommendations may include washing the cat to physically remove allergens from its hair.^{1,5,54,55} This recommendation has poor compliance,⁴¹ due largely to the feline species' aversion to bathing. In addition, although immersion bathing is effective for lowering allergen levels on the cat's hair, the effects of bathing are transient; allergen levels return to baseline within 24 hours of bathing.^{1,14,54,55}

Revenue Anstitute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

A TRANSFORMATIONAL NUTRITIONAL APPROACH TO MANAGING FEL D 1





A new approach developed by Nestlé Purina scientists leverages avian-origin IgY antibodies against Fel d 1 to neutralize it after its production but before it enters the environment. A complete and balanced dry cat food is coated with a product containing anti-Fel d 1 IgY that binds and neutralizes the allergen, rendering it unrecognizable as an allergen.



Cat eats diet coated with an egg product containing anti-Fel d 1 IgY antibodies



Anti-Fel d 1 IgY binds to salivary Fel d 1 in the cat's mouth as the cat chews the food



During grooming, neutralized Fel d 1 is distributed on the cat's hair and skin



Neutralized Fel d 1 is no longer recognizable as an allergen when released into the environment

Anti-Fel d 1 IgY

Egg products containing specifically targeted IgY, an avian-origin immunoglobulin comparable to mammalian IgG, have been used safely in human and veterinary medicine.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹ This approach uses a concentrated IgY that targets and binds Fel d 1.

Anti-Fel d 1 IgY effectively neutralizes active Fel d 1 in vitro and ex vivo

Anti-Fel d 1 IgY blocked the binding of salivary Fel d 1 to Fel d 1-specific IgE in a dose-dependent manner and prevented mast cell degranulation.⁶⁰

Anti-Fel d 1 IgY is safe for cats

Many cat owners view their cats as part of the family^{24,52} and will often go to great lengths to keep their cat in the home despite allergies.⁶¹ However, although many allergic owners will compromise their own health to keep their cat, they are

unlikely to accept approaches that they feel may put their cat's health and well-being at risk.

The anti-Fel d 1 IgY is safe for cats, based on a comprehensive safety study that fed an egg product ingredient with multiple levels of anti-Fel d 1 IgY, including levels many times higher than those used in efficacy studies.⁶² A subsequent study confirmed the ingredient's safety for kittens.⁶³

Because the biological function of Fel d 1 is not definitively known, the potential health and welfare effects of stopping its production are also unknown. Based on the principle of allergen load reduction, complete elimination of Fel d 1 production is not necessary. **This approach does not neutralize 100% of the cat's Fel d 1.** Cats produce varying levels of Fel d 1 depending on neuter status, sex, and genetics and can be healthy regardless of their Fel d 1 levels;¹⁵ our approach preserves some biologically available Fel d 1 while reducing the active allergen.

Diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces active Fel d 1 in cats' saliva

Salivary active (allergenic) Fel d 1 was significantly reduced by Week 3 in the cats receiving the diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY. 64

Diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces active Fel d 1 on cats' hair

Fel d 1 (active and neutralized forms) originating in the saliva is distributed on the cat's hair during grooming and enters the environment through shed hair and dander; therefore, the next step in the validation process was to determine the effects of anti-Fel d 1 IgY on active Fel d 1 levels in the cat's hair and dander.

Active Fel d 1 levels in the hair and dander collected by brushing were significantly reduced starting in Week 3 of

the test period and sustained their reduced levels for the remainder of the treatment period. The reduction in active Fel d 1 ranged from 31-77%, with an average reduction of 47%.⁶⁵

Preserving the human-animal bond

In an open-label, survey-based trial, 82.5% of veterinary team participants with self-reported allergy to cats reported improvements in perceived quality of life and allergen management after feeding their cats the diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY. Improvements were most commonly observed starting in the fourth week of feeding the diet. In addition, respondents reported they were more able to interact physically with their cat(s) as much as they wanted to and they were able to be as close to their cats as they wanted to be.⁶⁶



Advancing Science for Pet Health

Cat diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces the allergic response in sensitized individuals

Environmental chamber study

Reducing the levels of active Fel d 1 in a cat's saliva and hair can reduce the amount of cat allergens shed into the environment on hair and dander, thereby reducing the total allergen load in the environment. If the allergen load is reduced to a level below the individual's allergic threshold, clinical allergy symptoms may be prevented.

A pilot study utilizing individual environmental chambers demonstrated that feeding cats a diet with an egg product ingredient containing anti-Fel d 1 IgY decreased the environmental Fel d 1 levels in a controlled environment and produced a significant improvement in Total Nasal Symptom Score and some ocular symptoms in cat-allergic human subjects.⁶⁷

Test diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces overall, nasal, and ocular symptoms and increases well-controlled symptom days in cat-allergic individuals

An open-label proof-of-concept study using MASK-air®, a mobile health app, evaluated allergic symptoms in 42 cat allergen-sensitized individuals while their cats were fed the diet coated with anti-Fel d 1 IgY for 4 months.⁶⁸ The visual analog scale (VAS) for global (overall) allergy symptoms was significantly improved. The VAS scores for nose, eye, and asthma symptoms were significantly improved by the end of the first month of feeding the test diet. The combined percentage of moderately controlled and uncontrolled symptom days (VAS >20/100) decreased from 64% at baseline to 35% at one month and 14% at 3 months.

Subjects reported significantly more days of well-controlled symptoms beginning in the first month of feeding their cat the diet (n=25)



When presented with a cat-allergic, cat-owning patient, allergists are often compelled to recommend removal of the cat from the home in order to reduce the environmental allergen load and relieve clinical symptoms of allergy. However, this recommendation is often met with resistance because cat owners consider their cats to be members of the family and are not willing to re-home or relinquish their cat.

Based on more than a decade of research, this new approach uses a complete and balanced dry feline diet that neutralizes Fel d 1 in the cat's mouth as (s)he chews the food: neutralized Fel d 1 is unable to trigger an allergic response. This reduces active Fel d 1 in the cat's saliva and on their shed hair and dander, subsequently reducing active Fel d 1 in the environment and improving clinical symptoms in cat-sensitized individuals. This cat-safe approach provides a means of reducing allergenic Fel d 1 through the simple act of feeding. As part of a comprehensive allergen management plan, this approach can help reduce the major cat allergen while keeping the cat in its loving home.



Advancing Science for Pet Health

REFERENCES

1. Bonnet, B., Messaoudi, K., Jacomet, F., Michaud, E., Fauquert, J. L., Caillaud, D., & Evrard, B. (2018). An update on molecular cat allergens: Fel d 1 and what else? Chapter 1: Fel d 1, the major cat allergen. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology, 14,* 14. doi: 10.1186/s13223-018-0239-8

2. Morris, D. O. (2010). Human allergy to environmental pet danders: A public health perspective. *Veterinary Dermatology*, *21*(5), 441-449. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3164.2010.00882.x

3. Suzuki, S., Nwaru, B. I., Ekerljung, L., Sjolander, S., Mincheva, R., Ronmark, E. P., Ronmark, E., Lundback, B., Borres, M. P., & Lotvall, J. (2019). Characterization of sensitization to furry animal allergen components in an adult population. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy, 49*(4), 495-505. doi: 10.1111/cea.13355

4. Chan, S. K., & Leung, D. Y. M. (2018). Dog and cat allergies: Current state of diagnostic approaches and challenges. *Allergy, Asthma & Immunology Research*, *10*(2), 97-105. doi: 10.4168/aair.2018.10.2.97

5. Dávila, I., Dominguez-Ortega, J., Navarro-Pulido, A., Alonso, A., Antolin-Amerigo, D., Gonzalez-Mancebo, E., Martin-Garcia, C., Nunez-Acevedo, B., Prior, N., Reche, M., Rosado, A., Ruiz-Hornillos, J., Sanchez, M. C., & Torrecillas, M. (2018). Consensus document on dog and cat allergy. *Allergy*, *73*(6), 1206-1222. doi: 10.1111/all.13391

6. Sub-Committee, W. I. A. N. (2020). *Felis domesticus (F. catus) cat allergens*. Retrieved December 30, 2022 from http://www.allergen.org

7. Dramburg, S., Hilger, C., Santos, A. F., de Las Vecillas, L., Aalberse, R. C., Acevedo, N., Aglas, L., Altmann, F., Arruda, K. L., Asero, R., Ballmer-Weber, B., Barber, D., Beyer, K., Biedermann, T., Bilo, M. B., Blank, S., Bosshard, P. P., Breiteneder, H., Brough, H. A., . . . Hoffmann-Sommergruber, K. (2023). EAACI Molecular Allergology User's Guide 2.0. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, 34 Suppl 28*, e13854. doi: 10.1111/pai.13854

8. Zahradnik, E., & Raulf, M. (2017). Respiratory allergens from furred mammals: Environmental and occupational exposure. *Veterinary Sciences*, *4*(3). doi: 10.3390/vetsci4030038

9. Cosme-Blanco, W., Arce-Ayala, T., Malinow, I., & Nazario, S. (2018). Primary and secondary environmental control measures for allergic diseases. In M. Mahmoudi (Ed.), *Allergy and Asthma* (pp. 1-36). Springer Nature. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-58726-4_36-1

10. Ohman, J. L., Lowell, F. C., & Bloch, K. J. (1974). Allergens of mammalian origin III: Properties of a major feline allergen. *Journal of Immunology, 113*, 1668-1677.

11. Bastien, B. C., Gardner, C., & Satyaraj, E. (2019). Influence of time and phenotype on salivary Fel d1 in domestic shorthair cats. *Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery*, *21*(10), 867-874. doi: 10.1177/1098612X19850973

12. Butt, A., Rashid, D., & Lockey, R. F. (2012). Do hypoallergenic cats and dogs exist? *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 108*(2), 74-76. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2011.12.005

13. Kelly, S. M., Karsh, J., Marcelo, J., Boeckh, D., Stepner, N., Santone, B., Yang, J., & Yang, W. H. (2018). Fel d 1 and Fel d 4 levels in cat fur, saliva, and urine. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *142*(6), 1990-1992 e1993. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.07.033

14. Salo, P. M., Cohn, R. D., & Zeldin, D. C. (2018). Bedroom allergen exposure beyond house dust mites. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports, 18*(10), 52. doi: 10.1007/S11882-018-0805-7

15. Nicholas, C., Wegienka, G., Havstad, S., Ownby, D., & Johnson, C. C. (2008). Influence of cat characteristics on Fel d 1 levels in the home. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 101*(1), 47-50. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60834-4

16. Bienboire-Frosini, C., Durairaj, R., Pelosi, P., & Pageat, P. (2020). The major cat allergen Fel d 1 binds steroid and fatty acid semiochemicals: A combined in silico and in vitro study. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, *21*(4). doi: 10.3390/ijms21041365

17. Durairaj, R., Pageat, P., & Bienboire-Frosini, C. (2018). Another cat and mouse game: Deciphering the evolution of the SCGB superfamily and exploring the molecular similarity of major cat allergen Fel d 1 and mouse ABP using computational approaches. *PLoS One*, *13*(5), e0197618. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0197618

18. Scheib, H., Nekaris, K. A., Rode-Margono, J., Ragnarsson, L., Baumann, K., Dobson, J. S., Wirdateti, W., Nouwens, A., Nijman, V., Martelli, P., Ma, R., Lewis, R. J., Kwok, H. F., & Fry, B. G. (2020). The toxicological intersection between allergen and toxin: A structural comparison of the cat dander allergenic protein Fel d1 and the slow loris brachial gland secretion protein. *Toxins (Basel)*, *12*(2). doi: 10.3390/toxins12020086

19. Esty, B., & Phipatanakul, W. (2018). School exposure and asthma. Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 120(5), 482-487. doi: 10.1016/j. anai.2018.01.028

20. Liccardi, G., Calzetta, L., Baldi, G., Berra, A., Billeri, L., Caminati, M., Capano, P., Carpentieri, E., Ciccarelli, A., Crivellaro, M. A., Cutajar, M., D'Amato, M., Folletti, I., Gani, F., Gargano, D., Giannattasio, D., Giovannini, M., Lombardi, C., Lo Schiavo, M., . . . Italian Allergic Respiratory Diseases Task Force. (2018). Allergic sensitization to common pets (cats/ dogs) according to different possible modalities of exposure: An Italian multicenter study. *Clinical and Molecular Allergy, 16*, Article 3. doi: 10.1186/ s12948-018-0081-z

21. Sander, I., Lotz, A., Neumann, H. D., Czibor, C., Flagge, A., Zahradnik, E., & Raulf, M. (2018). Indoor allergen levels in settled airborne dust are higher in day-care centers than at home. *Allergy*, *73*(6), 1263-1275. doi: 10.1111/ all.13371

22. Siebers, R., Jones, B., Bailey, L., Aldridge, D., Draper, J., & Ingham, T. (2019). Indoor allergen exposure in primary school classrooms in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 132(1495), 42-47.

23. Bousquet, J., Anto, J. M., Annesi-Maesano, I., Dedeu, T., Dupas, E., Pepin, J. L., Eyindanga, L. S. Z., Arnavielhe, S., Ayache, J., Basagana, X., Benveniste, S., Venturos, N. C., Chan, H. K., Cheraitia, M., Dauvilliers, Y., Garcia-Aymerich, J., Jullian-Desayes, I., Dinesh, C., Laune, D., . . . Bourez, J. M. (2018). POLLAR: Impact of air POLLution on Asthma and Rhinitis; a European Institute of Innovation and Technology Health (EIT Health) project. *Clinical and Translational Allergy, 8*, 36. doi: 10.1186/s13601-018-0221-Z

24. Turner, D. C. (2017). A review of over three decades of research on cat-human and human-cat interactions and relationships. *Behavioural Processes*, *141*(Pt 3), 297-304. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017.01.008

25. Mertens, C. (1991). Human-cat interactions in the home setting. *Anthrozoös*, *4*(4), 214-231. doi: 10.2752/089279391787057062

26. Vitale, K. R., & Udell, M. A. R. (2019). The quality of being sociable: The influence of human attentional state, population, and human familiarity on domestic cat sociability. *Behavioural Processes*, *158*, 11-17. doi: 10.1016/j. beproc.2018.10.026

27. Zhang, L., Needham, K. B., Juma, S., Si, X., & Martin, F. (2021). Feline communication strategies when presented with an unsolvable task: The attentional state of the person matters. *Animal Cognition*, *24*(5), 1109-1119. doi: 10.1007/s10071-021-01503-6

28. Kobayashi, A., Yamaguchi, Y., Ohtani, N., & Ohta, M. (2017). The effects of touching and stroking a cat on the inferior frontal gyrus in people. *Anthrozoös*, *30*(3), *473-486*. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2017.1335115

29. Stammbach, K. B., & Turner, D. C. (1999). Understanding the human-cat relationship: Human social support or attachment. *Anthrozoös*, *12*(3), 162-168. doi: 10.2752/089279399787000237

30. American Humane Association. (2012). *Keeping Pets (Dogs And Cats) In Homes: A Three-Phase Retention Study. Phase I: Reasons For Not Owning A Dog Or Cat.* Retrieved April 17, 2023 from https://www.americanhumane.org/app/uploads/2016/08/aha-petsmart-retention-study-phase-1.pdf

31. Coe, J. B., Young, I., Lambert, K., Dysart, L., Nogueira Borden, L., & Rajic, A. (2014). A scoping review of published research on the relinquishment of companion animals. *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, *17*(3), 253-273. doi: 10.1080/10888705.2014.899910

32. Eriksson, P., Loberg, J., & Andersson, M. (2009). A survey of cat shelters in Sweden. Animal Welfare, 18, 283-288.

33. Weiss, E., Gramann, S., Drain, N., Dolan, E., & Slater, M. (2015). Modification of the Feline-Ality Assessment and the ability to predict adopted cats' behaviors in their new homes. *Animals (Basel)*, *5*(1), 71-88. doi: 10.3390/ani5010071

34. Zito, S., Morton, J., Vankan, D., Paterson, M., Bennett, P. C., Rand, J., & Phillips, C. J. C. (2006). Reasons people surrender unowned and owned cats to Australian animal shelters and barriers to assuming ownership of unowned cats. *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science* 19, 303-319. doi: 10.1080/10888705.206.1141682

35. Svanes, C., Zock, J. P., Anto, J., Dharmage, S., Norback, D., Wjst, M., Heinrich, J., Jarvis, D., de Marco, R., Plana, E., Raherison, C., Sunyer, J., & Early Life Working Group Of The European Community Respiratory Health Survey. (2006). Do asthma and allergy influence subsequent pet keeping? An analysis of childhood and adulthood. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *118*(3), 691-698. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.06.017

36. Carlstead, K., Brown, J. L., & Strawn, W. (1993). Behavioral and physiological correlates of stress in laboratory cats. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, *38*, 1430158. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(93)90062-T

37. Stella, J. L., & Croney, C. C. (2016). Environmental aspects of domestic cat care and management: Implications for cat welfare. *Scientific World Journal*, 2016, 6296315. doi: 10.1155/2016/6296315

38. Liu, S., Paterson, M., Camarri, S., Murray, L., & Phillips, C. J. C. (2020). The effects of the frequency and method of gentling on the behavior of cats in shelters. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, *39*, 47-56. doi: 10.1016/j. jveb.2020.07.007

39. Mills, D., Karagiannis, C., & Zulch, H. (2014). Stress – its effects on health and behavior: A guide for practitioners. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice*, 44(3), 525-541. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2014.01.005

40. Sparkes, A. H. (2022). Human allergy to cats: A review of the impact on cat ownership and relinquishment. *Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery*, 24(1), 43-52. doi: 10.1177/1098612X211013016

41. Björnsdottir, U. S., Jakobinudottir, S., Runarsdottir, V., & Juliusson, S. (2003). The effect of reducing levels of cat allergen (Fel d 1) on clinical symptoms in patients with cat allergy. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology*, *91*(2), 189-194. doi: 10.1016/s1081-1206(10)62176-x

42. Wood, R. A., Chapman, M. D., Adkinson, N. F., Jr., & Eggleston, P. A. (1989). The effect of cat removal on allergen content in household-dust samples. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *8*₃(4), 730-734. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(89)90006-7

43. Virtanen, T. (2018). Immunotherapy for pet allergies. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, 14(4), 807-814. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1409315

44. Lee, S. R., Lee, K. L., Song, S. H., Joo, M. D., Lee, S. H., Kang, J. S., Kang, S. M., Idrees, M., Kim, J. W., & Kong, I. K. (2024). Generation of Fel d 1 chain 2 genome-edited cats by CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Scientific Reports*, *14*(1), 4987. doi: 10.1038/s41598-024-55464-0

45. Nopp, A., Johansson, S. G., Lundberg, M., & Oman, H. (2006). Simultaneous exposure of several allergens has an additive effect on multisensitized basophils. *Allergy, 61*(11), 1366-1368. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2006.01211.x

46. Wickman, M. (2005). When allergies complicate allergies. *Allergy, 60 Suppl* 79, 14-18. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2005.00852.x

47. Broźek, J. L., Bousquet, J., Baena-Cagnani, C. E., Bonini, S., Canonica, G. W., Casale, T. B., van Wijk, R. G., Ohta, K., Zuberbier, T., Schunemann, H. J., Global Allergy and Asthma European Network, & Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation Working Group. (2010). Allergic Rhinitis and its Impact on Asthma (ARIA) guidelines: 2010 revision. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *126*(3), 466-476. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.047

48. Bertelsen, R. J., Carlsen, K. C., Granum, B., Carlsen, K. H., Haland, G., Devulapalli, C. S., Munthe-Kaas, M. C., Mowinckel, P., & Lovik, M. (2010). Do allergic families avoid keeping furry pets? *Indoor Air, 20*(3), 187-195. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0668.2009.00640.x

49. Coren, S. (1997). Allergic patients do not comply with doctors' advice to stop owning pets. *British Medical Journal*, *314*, 517.

50. Portnoy, J., Kennedy, K., Sublett, J., Phipatanakul, W., Matsui, E., Barnes, C., Grimes, C., Miller, J. D., Seltzer, J. M., Williams, P. B., Bernstein, J. A., Bernstein, D. I., Blessing-Moore, J., Cox, L., Khan, D. A., Lang, D. M., Nicklas, R. A., & Oppenheimer, J. (2012). Environmental assessment and exposure control: A practice parameter--furry animals. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, 108*(4), 223 e221-215. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2012.02.015

51. Sánchez, J., Diez, S., & Cardona, R. (2015). Pet avoidance in allergy cases: Is it possible to implement? *Biomédica*, *35*, 357-362. doi: 10.7705/biomedica. v35i3.2634

52. American Veterinary Medical Association. (2018). 2017-2018 AVMA Pet Ownership and Demographics Sourcebook. doi: http://www.avma.org/sites/ default/files/resources/AVMA-Pet-Demographics-Executive-Summary.pdf

53. Human-Animal Bond Research Initiative (HABRI). (2019). *Understanding the Impact of Cat Allergens*. Retrieved 3/11/2024 from https://habri.org/cat-allergens-research/

54. Avner, D. B., Perzanowski, M. S., Platts-Mills, T. A., & Woodfolk, J. A. (1997). Evaluation of different techniques for washing cats: Quantitation of allergen removed from the cat and the effect on airborne Fel d 1. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 100*(3), 307-312. doi: 10.1016/s0091-6749(97)70242-2

Advancing Science for Pet Health

55. Nageotte, C., Park, M., Havstad, S., Zoratti, E., & Ownby, D. (2006). Duration of airborne Fel d 1 reduction after cat washing. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *118*(2), 521-522. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.04.049

56. Karlsson, M., Kollberg, H., & Larsson, A. (2004). Chicken IgY: Utilizing the evolutionary difference. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, *60*, 341-348. doi: 10.1079/WPS200422

57. Rahman, S., Van Nguyen, S., Icatlo, F. C., Jr., Umeda, K., & Kodama, Y. (2013). Oral passive IgY-based immunotherapeutics: A novel solution for prevention and treatment of alimentary tract diseases. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *9*(5), 1039-1048. doi: 10.4161/hv.23383

58. Schade, R., Calzado, E. G., Sarmiento, R., Chacana, P. A., Porankiewicz-Asplund, J., & Terzolo, H. R. (2005). Chicken egg yolk antibodies (IgY-technology): A review of progress in production and use in research and human and veterinary medicine. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, *33*(2), 129-154. doi: 10.1177/026119290503300208

59. Van Nguyen, S. V., Umeda, K., Yoyokama, H., Tohya, Y., & Kodama, Y. (2006). Passive protection of dogs against clinical disease due to canine parvovirus-2 by specific antibody from chicken egg yolk. *The Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, *70*, 62-64.

60. Satyaraj, E., Sun, P., & Sherrill, S. (2021). Fel d1 blocking antibodies: A novel method to reduce IgE-mediated allergy to cats. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2021, 5545173. doi: 10.1155/2021/5545173

61. Safdar, K. (2019). My cat allergy is killing me, but Cupcake stays. *Wall Street Journal*. https://www.wsj.com/articles/my-cat-allergy-is-killing-me-but-cupcake-stays-11553784452

62. Matulka, R. A., Thompson, L., & Corley, D. (2019). Multi-level safety studies of anti Fel d 1 IgY ingredient in cat food. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *6*, 477. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00477

63. Hedrick, E. D., Matulka, R. A., Conboy-Schmidt, L., & May, K. A. (2024). Evaluation of anti-Fel d 1 IgY ingredient for pet food on growth performance in kittens. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *11*, 1355390. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2024.1355390

64. Satyaraj, E., Li, Q., Sun, P., & Sherrill, S. (2019). Anti-Fel d1 immunoglobulin Y antibody-containing egg ingredient lowers allergen levels in cat saliva. *Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery*, *21*(10), 875-881. doi: 10.1177/1098612X19861218

65. Satyaraj, E., Gardner, C., Filipi, I., Cramer, K., & Sherrill, S. (2019). Reduction of active Fel d1 from cats using an antiFel d1 egg IgY antibody. *Immunity, Inflammation and Disease*, 7(2), 68-73. doi: 10.1002/iid3.244

66. May, K. A., Satyaraj, E., & Hopkins, V. (2021, July 10-12, 2021). *Cat diet coated with egg product containing anti-Fel d 1 antibodies improves self-reported quality of life and owner-cat interaction measures: A prospective, survey-based field trial.* European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (EAACI) Hybrid Congress, Krakow, Poland.

67. Wedner, J., Mantia, T., Satyaraj, E., Gardner, C., Al-Hammadi, N., & Sherrill, S. (2021). Feeding cats egg product with polyclonal anti-Fel d1 antibodies decreases environmental Fel d 1 and allergic response: A proof of concept study. *Journal of Allergy and Infectious Disease, 2*(1), 1-8. doi: 10.46439/allergy.2.015

68. Bousquet, J., Gherasim, A., de Blay, F., Mathieu-Dupas, E., Batot, G., Laune, D., Sousa-Pinto, B., Zubierber, T., Pham-Ti, N., & MASK-cat Study Group. (2024). Proof-of-concept study of anti-Fel d 1 IgY antibodies in cat food using the MASK-air[®] app. *Clinical and Translational Allergy*, *14*(5), e12353. doi: 10.1002/clt2.12353

Advancing Science for Pet Health

GET TO KNOW THE PURINA INSTITUTE

Advancing Science for Pet Health

At the Purina Institute, we believe science is more powerful when it's shared. That's why we're on a mission to unlock the power of nutrition to help pets live better, longer lives. A global professional organization, the Purina Institute shares Purina's leading-edge research, as well as evidence-based information from the wider scientific community, in an accessible, actionable way so veterinary professionals are empowered to put nutrition at the forefront of pet health discussions to further improve and extend the healthy lives of pets through nutrition.

> For more information and a wealth of pet nutrition resources, visit <u>Purinalnstitute.com</u> and sign up for scientific communications. By signing up, you'll receive updates on discoveries in nutritional science, free resources to support you in your nutrition conversations with clients, invitations to events, newsletters, and much more from the Purina Institute.



Purinalnstitute.com/Sign-Up

Learn more at **Purinalnstitute.com**

PURINA TRADEMARKS ARE OWNED BY SOCIÉTÉ DES PRODUITS NESTLÉ S.A. RN/CRCA